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STATEMENT OF INTEREST OF AMICUS CURIAE 

The Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC or Commission) is 

the federal agency established by Congress to interpret, administer and enforce the 

employment nondiscrimination and anti-retaliation provisions of Title VII of the 

Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e et seq. and other federal anti-

discrimination statutes.  EEOC’s effective enforcement of Title VII depends, in 

significant part, on ensuring aggrieved individuals are able to file administrative 

charges of discrimination, because the EEOC’s receipt and investigation of charges 

is the Commission’s primary means of accomplishing Congress’s mandate to 

enforce Title VII.  See 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5.  Filing a timely charge with the EEOC 

is also a statutory prerequisite for an employee to file a Title VII lawsuit.  Id.   

Title VII provides that a charge must be filed within 180 days after the 

alleged unlawful conduct, but if the charging party has “initially instituted 

proceedings with a State or local agency with authority to grant or seek relief from 

such practice,” the time limit is extended to 300 days.  See 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-

5(e)(1).  The EEOC has a strong interest in ensuring that Title VII lawsuits are not 

improperly dismissed under the erroneous belief that the underlying charge was 

untimely under this provision.  The district court in this case incorrectly applied the 

180-day time limit to plaintiff’s claim that his former employer retaliated against 

him for having complained about workplace sexual harassment and then dismissed 
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the claim for failure to file a timely charge.  In fact, for almost two decades, federal 

district courts in Puerto Rico have mistakenly applied the 180-day time limit to 

retaliation claims arising out of employee complaints of workplace sexual 

harassment.  Understanding why these decisions are incorrect requires an 

explanation of the interplay between the provisions of Title VII, the EEOC’s 

procedural regulations interpreting Title VII, and the terms of the “worksharing 

agreement” between the EEOC and Puerto Rico’s fair employment practices 

agency, the Anti-Discrimination Unit of the Puerto Rico Department of Labor and 

Human Resources.  Because of the importance of this issue to Title VII’s proper 

implementation, and pursuant to Rule 29(a) of the Federal Rules of Appellate 

Procedure, the Commission offers its views to this Court. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE1

Plaintiff Antonio Velazquez Perez alleges his former employer retaliated 

against him because he complained about being sexually harassed in the 

workplace.  He filed a Title VII retaliation charge with the EEOC more than 180 

days, but less than 300 days, after he alleges the retaliation occurred.  Did the 

district court err in ruling Velazquez’s retaliation charge untimely because he did 

not file it within 180 days? 

 

                                                 

1  The Commission takes no position on any other issue in this case. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Statement of Facts 

Defendant Developers Diversified Realty Corporation (DDR) owns and 

manages shopping centers around the world, including fifteen shopping centers in 

Puerto Rico.  Appellant’s Appendix (Appx.) 650.  DDR hired plaintiff Antonio 

Velazquez Perez (Velazquez) in June 2007 as an operations manager for three of 

DDR’s Puerto Rico shopping centers.  Id.  After five months, DDR promoted 

Velazquez to the position of Regional General Manager, overseeing four shopping 

centers in the eastern region of Puerto Rico.  Id. at 650-51. 

DDR discharged Velazquez on August 25, 2008.  Appx.653-54.  DDR 

alleges that after Velazquez’s manager, Rolando Albino, became concerned that 

Velazquez was not performing his job to DDR’s expectations, DDR managers 

investigated and concluded that Velazquez, among other things, was not working 

the hours DDR expected of him, failed to manage an incident involving a 30-hour 

loss of electricity at one shopping center, and misrepresented information when 

Albino asked him about these matters during the company’s investigation.  Id. at 

652-54.  

Velazquez offers a different story.  Velazquez alleges he was sexually 

harassed by Rosa Martinez, a DDR regional property accountant and the 

company’s human resources liaison for DDR’s operations in Puerto Rico.  
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Appx.649.  Velazquez states that Martinez made unwanted sexual advances toward 

him over a period of several months, including sending him emails with sexual 

overtones and attempting to pressure him to have sex with her during business 

travel.  Velazquez further asserts that he was concerned about rebuffing Martinez’s 

advances because he believed that Martinez, as an HR liaison, had the ability to 

affect his salary and his terms of employment.  Velazquez alleges he complained 

about Martinez to DDR managers in April and August 2008.  Velazquez further 

alleges that the DDR managers, rather than addressing the situation, retaliated 

against him by fabricating reports that he was not performing his job properly and 

by ultimately discharging him on August 25, 2008.  See generally District Court 

Record Number (R.) 132 at pp.2-5 (Appx.192-95).    

On February 26, 2009—185 days after DDR discharged him—Velazquez 

filed a discrimination charge with the EEOC’s office in San Juan, Puerto Rico.  See 

Appx.654.  Pursuant to the worksharing agreement between the EEOC’s Miami 

District Office and the local fair employment practices (FEP) agency—the Anti-

Discrimination Unit (ADU) of the Puerto Rico Department of Labor and Human 

Resources—the EEOC accepted Velazquez’s charge on the ADU’s behalf and, 

thereby, automatically “filed” the charge with the ADU.  See R.104-2 (Appx.177-
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82) - Fiscal Year 2009 Worksharing Agreement, § II.A.2  Pursuant to the same 

worksharing agreement, the ADU immediately and automatically waived its 

statutory right under Title VII to investigate the charge for sixty days before the 

EEOC institutes administrative proceedings.  See id. (FY 2009 Worksharing 

Agreement) § III.A.1.3

Velazquez thereafter requested a right-to-sue notice from the EEOC and 

filed this lawsuit, claiming DDR violated Title VII by failing to prevent and 

remedy sexual harassment and by retaliating against him for complaining about the 

harassment.  R.1 (Appx.1).  After discovery, DDR moved for summary judgment.  

DDR argued that Velazquez’s claim of retaliation culminating in his August 25, 

2008, discharge is time-barred, asserting that in Puerto Rico, Title VII claims of 

retaliation must be filed within 180 days.  DDR argued, first, that EEOC had not 

  See Addendum to EEOC’s Brief.  

                                                 

2  The FY 2009 Worksharing Agreement provides, in section II.A:  “[T]he EEOC 
and the FEPA each designate the other as its agent for the purpose of receiving and 
drafting charges” and “EEOC’s receipt of charges on the FEPA’s behalf will 
automatically initiate the proceedings of both the EEOC and the FEPA for the 
purposes of Section 706(c) and (e)(1) of Title VII.”  Appx.178.   
   
3  The Worksharing Agreement provides, in section III.A.:  “The EEOC and the 
FEPA will process all Title VII, ADA, and ADEA charges that they originally 
receive.”  Appx.179.  Section III.A.1. further provides:  “For charges originally 
received by the EEOC and/or to be initially processed by the EEOC, the FEPA 
waives its right of exclusive jurisdiction to initially process such charges for a 
period of 60 days for the purpose of allowing the EEOC to proceed immediately 
with the processing of such charges before the 61st day.”  Id.   
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“conferred” the ADU with “jurisdiction to hear claims for retaliation under Title 

VII.”  See R.59 at p.34.  In its reply brief, DDR argued, in addition, that Velazquez 

was not entitled to the 300-day charge-filing period because he did not first 

institute proceedings with a state or local agency, noting that Velazquez’s EEOC 

charge (the only charge he filed) does not indicate that he asked the EEOC to 

cross-file the charge with the ADU.  See R.90 at pp.8-11. 

District Court Decision 

The district court granted DDR summary judgment on Velazquez’s Title VII 

claims.  R.152 (slip op. 9/4/2012) (Appx.647-63).  The court held that Velazquez’s 

retaliation claim was time-barred because Velazquez did not file it within 180 days 

of his discharge.  Slip op. at 15 (Appx.661).  The court reasoned that “the EEOC 

has not conferred the Antidiscrimination Unit in Puerto Rico with jurisdiction to 

hear claims for retaliation under Title VII.”  Id. (citations omitted).  The court did 

not address DDR’s alternative argument:  that Velazquez had only 180 days to file 

his charge because, having filed his charge with the EEOC, he failed to offer proof 

that the EEOC cross-filed it with the ADU. 



 

 

ARGUMENT 

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING 
VELAZQUEZ’S TITLE VII RETALIATION CLAIM FOR 
FAILURE TO FILE A TIMELY CHARGE. 

 
A. A Charging Party in Puerto Rico, Filing a Claim of Retaliation 

under Title VII for having Complained about Sexual Harassment in 
the Workplace, has 300 Days to File His Charge. 

 
Before pursuing a Title VII claim in court, a plaintiff must file a timely 

charge with the EEOC.  42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(1).  “As a general rule, a 

complainant must file a discrimination charge with the EEOC within 180 days of 

the occurrence of the alleged unlawful employment practice.”  EEOC v. 

Commercial Office Prods. Co., 486 U.S. 107, 110 (1988) (citing 42 U.S.C. 

§ 2000e-5(e)).  But if the alleged unlawful employment practice occurred in a state 

or political subdivision that has both a state or local law that prohibits the conduct 

alleged in the charge and an agency with authority to grant or seek relief for such 

violations, and if the individual institutes his or her claim initially with the state or 

local agency, subsection 706(e) of Title VII extends the charge-filing period to 300 

days after the alleged unlawful employment practice occurred.  42 U.S.C. § 2000e-

5(e)(1); Commercial Office Prods., 486 U.S. at 110.  Thus, three elements are 

required to trigger the 300-day charge-filing period:  (1) there must be “a State or 

local law prohibiting the unlawful employment practice alleged” in the charge; 
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(2) there must be “a State or local agency with authority to grant or seek relief 

from such practice”; and (3) the charging party must have “initially instituted 

proceedings with [that] State or local agency.”  See 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(e)(1). 

All three elements are satisfied here.  First, Puerto Rico has a local law that 

prohibits retaliation for complaining about workplace sexual harassment.  “Law 

17” of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, 29 L.P.R.A. §§ 155 et seq. (enacted 

April 22, 1988), prohibits sexual harassment in employment and, further, expressly 

prohibits employers from retaliating against any employee who, like Velazquez, 

opposed any practice that Law 17 makes unlawful.  See 29 L.P.R.A. §§ 155, 155h.  

Second, the ADU and the Puerto Rico Secretary of Labor and Human Resources 

have authority to seek relief for workplace sexual harassment and retaliation claims 

arising out of complaints about such harassment.  See General By-Laws of the 

Anti-Discrimination Unit of the Puerto Rico, Department of Labor and Human 

Resources (Nov. 16, 2000) (describing ADU’s authority under various Puerto Rico 

statutes to enforce Law 17 by receiving and investigating complaints and 

conducting mediations and conciliation conferences, and the Secretary’s authority 

under the same Puerto Rico statutes to enforce Law 17 by filing or intervening in 

civil actions).   

Third, when Velazquez filed his charge with the EEOC, he “initially 

instituted proceedings with” the ADU, because the worksharing agreement 
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between the EEOC and the ADU authorized the EEOC to accept Velazquez’s 

charge on the ADU’s behalf.  See Appx.177-82 (discussed supra at pp. 4-5).  As 

noted above (p.5 n.2), under the worksharing agreement’s express terms, the ADU 

designated the EEOC as its agent for purposes of receiving charges.  The ADU and 

the EEOC further agreed, in the worksharing agreement, that the “EEOC’s receipt 

of charges on the FEPA’s behalf will automatically initiate the proceedings of both 

the EEOC and the FEPA for the purposes of Section 706(c) and (e)(1) of Title 

VII.”  FY 2009 Worksharing Agreement § II.A (Appx.178) (see Addendum).   

The EEOC’s acceptance of Velazquez’s charge thus satisfied the final 

statutory prerequisite in 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(e)(1) for receiving the benefit of the 

300-day charge-filing period—that Velazquez “initially instituted proceedings with 

a State or local agency.”  See Griffin v. City of Dallas, 26 F.3d 610, 612-13 (5th 

Cir. 1994) (under worksharing agreement between EEOC and Texas FEP agency, 

EEOC’s acceptance of charge satisfied Title VII requirement that plaintiff initially 

institute proceedings with state agency and entitled plaintiff to 300-day charge-

filing period); see also Tewksbury v. Ottaway Newspapers, 192 F.3d 322, 325-28 

(2d Cir. 1999) (applying Title VII’s charge-filing provisions to plaintiff’s ADA 

claim and concluding that, under worksharing agreement between EEOC and state 

agency, plaintiff’s ADA charge “must be deemed to have been filed ‘initially’ 

with” deferral-state agency when plaintiff submitted it to EEOC). 
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The district court acknowledged that “Puerto Rico is a deferral jurisdiction” 

and that a plaintiff can, therefore, “file a charge of discrimination with the EEOC 

within 300 days after the alleged unlawful employment practice occurred.”  R.152 

(9/4/2012 Order) at 15 (Appx.661).  See Marrero v. Goya of Puerto Rico, Inc., 

304 F.3d 7, 16-17 (1st Cir. 2002) (recognizing Puerto Rico as a “deferral 

jurisdiction” where charge-filing period is extended to 300 days).  The district 

court incorrectly stated, however, that “the EEOC has not conferred the 

Antidiscrimination Unit in Puerto Rico with jurisdiction to hear claims for 

retaliation under Title VII.”  Appx.661 (citing Alvarez v. Delta Airlines, 

319 F. Supp. 2d 240, 249 (D.P.R. 2004), and Rivera Abella v. Puerto Rico Tel. Co., 

470 F. Supp. 2d 86, 103 (D.P.R. 2007)).4

The cases on which the district court relied cited 29 C.F.R. § 1601.74, the 

  The district court erred both in 

suggesting the EEOC has authority to “confer” on an FEP agency “jurisdiction to 

hear” certain claims and in concluding that the ADU lacks jurisdiction to address 

claims of retaliation arising out of sexual harassment complaints.  

                                                 

4  The court also cited Rodriguez Velazquez v. Autoridad Metropolitana de 
Autobuses, 502 F. Supp. 2d 200 (D.P.R. 2007), but that case is entirely inapposite.  
The plaintiff’s retaliation claim in Rodriguez was apparently based on complaints 
about disability discrimination, not sexual harassment, and the district court 
dismissed the retaliation claim because the plaintiff never mentioned retaliation in 
his EEOC charge, not because the charge was untimely.  Id. at 207-09.  In the 
opinion, the district court nevertheless repeated the statement that in Puerto Rico, 
Title VII claims of retaliation have a 180-day charge-filing time limit.  Id. at 208. 
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EEOC regulation that lists designated “FEP agencies” and designated “Notice 

Agencies.”  Rivera, 470 F. Supp. 2d at 102-03 & n.10; Alvarez, 319 F. Supp. 2d at 

249.  The court’s opinion in both cases noted that section 1601.74(a) designates the 

ADU as only a Notice Agency rather than an FEP agency for Title VII claims of 

retaliation.  See Rivera, 470 F. Supp. 2d at 102-03 & n.10; Alvarez, 319 F. Supp. 

2d at 249.  The EEOC’s regulation is inaccurate on this point, however, and the 

court’s reliance on it in Rivera and Alvarez and, by extension, in this case was 

improper. 

Section 1601.74(a) lists the state and local agencies the EEOC has 

designated as “FEP agencies,” and section 1601.74(b) lists the state and local 

agencies the EEOC has designated as “Notice Agencies.”  See 29 C.F.R. 

§§ 1601.74(a), (b).  When a state or local agency’s enforcement jurisdiction covers 

some, but not all, of the claims covered by Title VII, the agency is a Notice 

Agency for the Title VII claims not covered by the state/local law.  See 29 C.F.R. 

§§ 1601.70(a), 1601.71 (explaining “FEP agency” and “Notice Agency” 

designations).  See generally footnotes to 29 C.F.R. § 1601.74(a) (identifying the 

state and local agencies that serve as an “FEP” agency for most claims or bases 

under Title VII but as only a “Notice Agency” for Title VII claims not covered by 

the state or local law).  Where the state or local agency lacks jurisdiction over 

specified claims and, therefore, serves as only a Notice Agency for charges that 
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allege such a violation, the 180-day charge-filing time limit applies to those 

particular claims, even if there are other claims in the same charge that would be 

entitled to a charge-filing time limit of 300 days.  29 C.F.R. § 1601.13(a)(2); 

14A C.J.S. Civil Rights § 537 (2012). 

The EEOC’s designation of a state or local agency as an FEP agency does 

not “confer” on that agency jurisdiction over any particular types of charges or 

claims.  Likewise, the EEOC’s designation of a state or local agency as only a 

Notice Agency does not deprive any such state/local agency of jurisdiction over a 

particular claim or set of claims.  Rather, the enforcement authority of any given 

state or local agency derives wholly from its state and local laws. 5

To the extent the district court relied on prior district court decisions that 

mistakenly relied on the failure of the Commission’s regulation to point out the 

exception for retaliation claims that fall within Law 17, the district court erred.  

Determining whether a particular state or local agency has authority to investigate 

  

                                                 

5 The EEOC’s designation reflects the Commission’s understanding of the scope of 
the state or local enforcement authority conferred by the relevant state/local law.  
The EEOC’s identification of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico as an FEP agency 
for most Title VII claims but only as a Notice Agency for several categories 
including “all charges alleging a violation of section 704(a) [of] title VII” (i.e., 
Title VII retaliation claims), see 29 C.F.R. § 1601.74(a) n.5, was correct when 
originally promulgated.  Following Puerto Rico’s enactment of Law 17 in 1988, 
the regulation should have been clarified to reflect that claims of retaliation arising 
out of complaints of workplace sexual harassment now fall within the enforcement 
authority of the ADU.     
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a particular discrimination claim depends entirely on the current scope of the state 

or local law, not on what the EEOC lists in its regulations.  Cf. MacDonald v. 

Grace Church Seattle, 457 F.3d 1079, 1083-85 (9th Cir. 2006) (rejecting plaintiff’s 

argument that, because EEOC regulations listed the Washington State 

administrative agency as an FEP agency without qualification and failed to indicate 

that Washington State’s antidiscrimination law did not extend to plaintiff’s claim, 

plaintiff was entitled to 300 days to file her charge). 

In sum, it is the state and local laws themselves—not the EEOC’s list of 

designated FEP agencies in the Commission’s regulations—that govern whether a 

charging party is entitled to 180 or 300 days to file a particular charge.  The failure 

of the EEOC’s regulations to note that clams of retaliation arising out of 

complaints of sexual harassment are covered under Puerto Rico’s anti-

discrimination laws and fall within the ADU’s enforcement jurisdiction cannot 

alter the fact that this claim is covered under Puerto Rico law, see 29 L.P.R.A. 

§ 155h, and that the ADU had authority to seek relief for violations of the anti-

retaliation provision of Law 17 when Velazquez filed his charge with the EEOC.   

Because Velazquez satisfied all of Title VII’s conditions for the 300-day 

charge-filing period when he filed his retaliation charge with the EEOC, the district 

court erred in ruling Velazquez’s retaliation claim untimely on the ground that he 

did not file it within 180 days.   
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B.  Velazquez’s Charge was Automatically Filed with the ADU 
Pursuant to the Worksharing Agreement Between the EEOC and 
the ADU. 

 
In its reply brief, DDR argued that Velazquez was not entitled to the 300-

day charge-filing time period in any event because he “failed to file a 

discrimination charge before the ADU or to request dual filing of the charge before 

both [the EEOC and the ADU].”  R.90 (DDR Reply Brief) at 8.  DDR relied on the 

fact that the copy of Velazquez’s charge in the summary judgment record did not 

indicate, on its face, that Velazquez had asked the EEOC to dual-file the charge 

with the ADU.  Id. at 9.  The district court did not address this alternate argument, 

but it also lacks merit.  Filing with the ADU occurred automatically by virtue of 

the provisions in the worksharing agreement.     

Section 706(c) of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(c), requires the EEOC to 

defer to an FEP agency for a brief period of time before accepting a charge for 

EEOC administrative processing.  Section 706(c) provides that in a state or local 

jurisdiction that has both an anti-discrimination law and state/local enforcement 

authority, no charge may be filed with the EEOC “before the expiration of sixty 

days after proceedings have been commenced under the State or local law, unless 

such proceedings have been earlier terminated.”  Id.  When a charging party 

submits a charge to the EEOC first, the EEOC dual-files it automatically with the 

appropriate FEP agency.  See 29 C.F.R. § 1601.13(a)(3) & (4).  The EEOC 
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undertakes this step in order “to give full weight to the policy of section 706(c) of 

title VII.”  29 C.F.R. § 1601.13(a)(3)(i).     

The means by which the EEOC accomplishes this automatic dual-filing 

varies depending on whether the FEP agency has waived its right to an initial 

period of exclusive processing.  Subsection 1601.13(a)(4)(i)(B) provides that if an 

FEP agency has not waived its right to a period of exclusive processing for the 

specific allegation in the charge, the EEOC will transmit a copy of the charge to 

the FEP agency, and “State or local proceedings are deemed to have commenced 

on the date such document is mailed or hand delivered” to the FEP agency.  

29 C.F.R. § 1601.13(a)(4)(i)(B).  Subsection 1601.13(a)(3)(iii) provides that if the 

allegation in the charge is one over which the FEP agency has waived its right to 

exclusive processing, “[c]opies of all such charges will be forwarded to the 

appropriate FEP agency.”  29 C.F.R. § 1601.13(a)(3)(iii).6

Velazquez’s charge fell into this latter category, and the EEOC transmitted a 

copy of the charge to the ADU pursuant to section 1601.13(a)(3)(iii).  There is no 

need to document this transmission to prove dual-filing, however, because under 

the EEOC/ADU worksharing agreement, the actual filing of Velazquez’s charge 

        

                                                 

6  Thus, with or without a worksharing agreement, and regardless of whether a 
charging party requests dual-filing, the EEOC dual-files charges automatically 
with the appropriate FEP agency. 
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with the ADU occurred when Velazquez submitted the charge to the EEOC.   

As noted above, the EEOC’s worksharing agreement with the ADU provides 

that each agency authorizes the other to accept charges on its behalf.  See 

discussion at pp. 4-5, supra.  As is typical of EEOC worksharing agreements, the 

EEOC/ADU agreement further provides, in section II.A: “EEOC’s receipt of 

charges on the FEPA’s behalf will automatically initiate the proceedings of both 

the EEOC and the FEPA for the purposes of Section 706(c) and (e)(1) of Title 

VII.”  This provision is self-executing.  As the Fifth Circuit explained in Griffin, 

“upon the EEOC’s receipt of the complaint, [the FEP agency], for all legal and 

practical purposes, received the complaint.”  26 F.3d at 612-13.   

This result in no way depends on a charging party’s request that a charge be 

dual-filed.  Rather, where the EEOC has entered into a worksharing agreement 

with an FEP agency, charges are automatically dual-filed when received by the 

EEOC, merely by operation of the worksharing agreement.  See Tewksbury, 

192 F.3d at 327 (holding that, pursuant to worksharing agreement, plaintiff’s 

charge was initially filed with state FEP agency when EEOC received it, even 

though plaintiff never asked EEOC to dual-file his charge with state agency).  See 

also, e.g., Puryear v. County of Roanoke, 214 F.3d 514, 519 (4th Cir. 2000) (by 

virtue of worksharing agreement’s “automatic initiation” and “waiver” provisions, 

plaintiff properly commenced state proceedings when she filed her charge with 
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EEOC only); Hong v. Children’s Mem’l Hosp., 936 F.2d 967 (7th Cir. 1991) 

(pursuant to worksharing agreement between Illinois state agency and EEOC, 

plaintiff automatically initially instituted proceedings with state agency when she 

filed her charge with EEOC).  Cf. Laquaglia v. Rio Hotel & Casino, Inc., 186 F.3d 

1172, 1174-76 (9th Cir. 1999) (upholding provision in worksharing agreements 

that EEOC and state/local agencies accept charges on each other’s behalf, and 

holding that waiver provision in such agreements is “self-executing”).  

Worksharing agreements like the one between the EEOC and the ADU 

enable the EEOC and FEP agencies to satisfy Title VII’s mandatory deferral 

requirement in section 706(c) in a more streamlined and cooperative fashion by 

authorizing the EEOC to accept a charge on the FEP agency’s behalf.  Congress 

authorized this type of written agreement by which the EEOC cooperates with state 

and local agencies.  See 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e-4(g)(1), 2000e-8(b).  Such 

worksharing agreements have also been endorsed by the Supreme Court and this 

Court.  See, e.g., Commercial Office Prods., 486 U.S. 107; Isaac v. Harvard Univ., 

769 F.2d 817, 824-26 (1st Cir. 1985) (refusing to invalidate worksharing 

agreement between EEOC and Massachusetts state agency and acknowledging that 

such worksharing agreements further congressional goals). 

Thus, pursuant to the terms of the worksharing agreement between the 

EEOC and the ADU, when Velazquez submitted his discrimination charge to the 
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EEOC, the Commission accepted it on behalf of the ADU, and at that point it was 

automatically deemed to be filed with the ADU.  Pursuant to the same worksharing 

agreement, the ADU immediately terminated its administrative proceedings by 

virtue of the provision in which the ADU waived its right to process the charge 

initially.  At that point, Velazquez’s charge was filed with the EEOC. 

This Court has not yet decided whether, when there is a worksharing 

agreement between the EEOC and a state or local agency by which the EEOC 

accepts charges on the state/local agency’s behalf, a charging party has “initially 

instituted proceedings” with that state or local agency under 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-

5(e)(1) by submitting the charge to the EEOC only.  The issue was presented in 

EEOC v. Green, 76 F.3d 19 (1st Cir. 1996), but this Court decided that case on 

other grounds.   

In Green, the EEOC argued that pursuant to the worksharing agreement 

between the EEOC and the Massachusetts Commission Against Discrimination 

(MCAD), the EEOC’s receipt of a charge automatically initiated MCAD’s 

administrative proceedings for purposes of qualifying the charging party for the 

extended 300-day charge-filing period.  76 F.3d at 23.  This Court acknowledged 

that the language of Title VII supported the EEOC’s argument and that a number 

of other circuits agreed with the EEOC, including the Fifth Circuit in Griffin.   Id. 

at 23 & nn.4 & 5.  This Court found it unnecessary to reach the question, however, 
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because the Court ruled in the EEOC’s favor on an alternate ground.  Id. at 23.7

This case offers this Court the opportunity to clarify this important element 

of Title VII procedure.  That the question needs clarification is demonstrated by 

the recent district court decision in De Jesus-Gamboa v. Rio Mar Assocs. LPSE, 

Civ. No. 10-cv-2013, 2012 WL 397612 (D.P.R. Feb. 7, 2012).  The provisions in 

the EEOC/ADU worksharing agreement when De Jesus-Gamboa filed his charge 

with the EEOC, id. at *5, were the same as the provisions at issue here.  Compare 

2010 EEOC/ADU Worksharing Agreement (R.75-31) with 2009 EEOC/ADU 

Worksharing Agreement (Appx.177-82) (see Addendum).  The district court ruled 

nevertheless that DeJesus-Gamboa had only 180 days to file his charge, reasoning 

that by filing his charge with the EEOC, DeJesus-Gamboa had failed to institute 

proceedings initially with the ADU.  See 2012 WL 397612, at *5 & nn. 6 & 7.   

 

Clarifying the proper interpretation of the EEOC/ADU worksharing 

agreement—as the EEOC has outlined it here—would not only correct the legal 

                                                 

7  This Court, in Green, urged the EEOC and the MCAD to consider revising the 
language of the worksharing agreement to clarify that the parties intended that 
filing a charge with the EEOC would automatically initiate proceedings with the 
MCAD.  Id. at 23 & n.6.  Several years later, the district court in Seery v. Biogen, 
Inc., 203 F. Supp. 2d 35 (D. Mass. 2002), observed that the EEOC/MCAD 
worksharing agreement had been revised and that the new language appeared to 
address this Court’s concern in Green.  Id. at 42-43 & n.13.  The provisions in the 
Puerto Rico worksharing agreement at issue in this case, see p.5 n.2, supra, 
likewise appear to avoid the ambiguity that concerned this Court in Green. 
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error in cases like De Jesus-Gamboa, but would also serve to answer a related 

question to which this Court alluded in Marrero v. Goya of Puerto Rico.  In 

Marrero, this Court questioned whether—given Title VII’s mandatory sixty-day 

deferral period between filing a charge with a state or local agency and the EEOC, 

see 42 U.S.C. §2000e-5(c)—a complainant in a deferral state might need to file a 

charge within 240 days of the alleged discriminatory practices to ensure timely 

filing with the EEOC by day 300.  See Marrero, 304 F.3d at 17 n.2.  As explained, 

under typical worksharing agreements such as the agreement between the EEOC 

and the ADU, the EEOC’s receipt of a charge serves to institute proceedings on the 

FEP agency’s behalf and, pursuant to the waiver provision, immediately terminates 

the FEP agency’s administrative proceedings, enabling the charge to be filed with 

the EEOC the same day.  See, e.g., Griffin, 26 F.3d at 612-13.  Thus, a sexual 

harassment/retaliation charge submitted to the EEOC’s San Juan, Puerto Rico 

office on day 300 is timely because when it is received by the EEOC, it is 

immediately filed with both the ADU (first) and the EEOC (second) on the same 

day it is received by the EEOC.  See 29 C.F.R. § 1601.13(a)(4)(ii)(A).8

                                                 

8  The EEOC’s interpretation of Title VII’s charge-filing provisions in Section 706, 
as implemented through the EEOC’s regulations and work-sharing agreements, 
should be given considerable weight.  See Commercial Office Prods., 486 U.S. at 
115 (“EEOC’s interpretation of ambiguous language need only be reasonable to be 
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CONCLUSION 
 

For the foregoing reasons, the EEOC respectfully asks this Court to reverse 

the district court’s ruling that Velazquez had only 180, rather than 300, days to file 

his charge alleging DDR retaliated against him for complaining about workplace 

sexual harassment.  We further ask this Court to clarify that, by operation of the 

EEOC’s worksharing agreement with the ADU, a charge filed with the EEOC is 

automatically dual-filed with the ADU.     
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entitled to deference”); id. at 125 (O’Connor, J., concurring) (“deference [to 
EEOC] is particularly appropriate on this type of technical issue of agency 
procedure”); Isaac v. Harvard Univ., 769 F.2d at 826-27 (adopting EEOC’s 
interpretation that waiver provision in the worksharing agreement “terminated” 
state agency’s proceedings, stating “EEOC’s interpretation of § 706(c) . . . is 
‘entitled to great deference’”) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). 
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42 U.S.C. § 2000e-4(g)(1) 
 
(g) Powers of Commission 
 
The Commission shall have power— 
 

(1) to cooperate with and, with their consent, utilize regional, State, local, 
and other agencies, both public and private, and individuals 

 
 
42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(c) 
 
State or local enforcement proceedings; notification of State or local authority; 
time for filing charges with Commission; commencement of proceedings 
 
In the case of an alleged unlawful employment practice occurring in a State, or 
political subdivision of a State, which has a State or local law prohibiting the 
unlawful employment practice alleged and establishing or authorizing a State or 
local authority to grant or seek relief from such practice or to institute criminal 
proceedings with respect thereto upon receiving notice thereof, no charge may be 
filed under subsection (a) of this section by the person aggrieved before the 
expiration of sixty days after proceedings have been commenced under the State or 
local law, unless such proceedings have been earlier terminated, provided that such 
sixty-day period shall be extended to one hundred and twenty days during the first 
year after the effective date of such State or local law. If any requirement for the 
commencement of such proceedings is imposed by a State or local authority other 
than a requirement of the filing of a written and signed statement of the facts upon 
which the proceeding is based, the proceeding shall be deemed to have been 
commenced for the purposes of this subsection at the time such statement is sent 
by registered mail to the appropriate State or local authority. 
 
 
42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(e)(1) 
  
(e) Time for filing charges; time for service of notice of charge on respondent; 
filing of charge by Commission with State or local agency; seniority system 
 

(1) A charge under this section shall be filed within one hundred and eighty 
days after the alleged unlawful employment practice occurred and notice of 
the charge (including the date, place and circumstances of the alleged 
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unlawful employment practice) shall be served upon the person against 
whom such charge is made within ten days thereafter, except that in a case 
of an unlawful employment practice with respect to which the person 
aggrieved has initially instituted proceedings with a State or local agency 
with authority to grant or seek relief from such practice or to institute 
criminal proceedings with respect thereto upon receiving notice thereof, 
such charge shall be filed by or on behalf of the person aggrieved within 
three hundred days after the alleged unlawful employment practice occurred, 
or within thirty days after receiving notice that the State or local agency has 
terminated the proceedings under the State or local law, whichever is earlier, 
and a copy of such charge shall be filed by the Commission with the State or 
local agency. 

 

 
42 U.S.C. § 2000e-8(b) 
 
Cooperation with State and local agencies administering State fair employment 
practices laws; participation in and contribution to research and other projects; 
utilization of services; payment in advance or reimbursement; agreements and 
rescission of agreements 
 
The Commission may cooperate with State and local agencies charged with the 
administration of State fair employment practices laws and, with the consent of 
such agencies, may, for the purpose of carrying out its functions and duties under 
this subchapter and within the limitation of funds appropriated specifically for such 
purpose, engage in and contribute to the cost of research and other projects of 
mutual interest undertaken by such agencies, and utilize the services of such 
agencies and their employees, and, notwithstanding any other provision of law, pay 
by advance or reimbursement such agencies and their employees for services 
rendered to assist the Commission in carrying out this subchapter. In furtherance of 
such cooperative efforts, the Commission may enter into written agreements with 
such State or local agencies and such agreements may include provisions under 
which the Commission shall refrain from processing a charge in any cases or class 
of cases specified in such agreements or under which the Commission shall relieve 
any person or class of persons in such State or locality from requirements imposed 
under this section. The Commission shall rescind any such agreement whenever it 
determines that the agreement no longer serves the interest of effective 
enforcement of this subchapter. 
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29 C.F.R. § 1601.13(a) 
 
(a) Initial presentation of a charge to the Commission. 
 
(1) Charges arising in jurisdictions having no FEP agency are filed with the 
Commission upon receipt. Such charges are timely filed if received by the 
Commission within 180 days from the date of the alleged violation. 
 
(2) A jurisdiction having a FEP agency without subject matter jurisdiction over a 
charge (e.g., an agency which does not cover sex discrimination or does not cover 
nonprofit organizations) is equivalent to a jurisdiction having no FEP agency. 
Charges over which a FEP agency has no subject matter jurisdiction are filed with 
the Commission upon receipt and are timely filed if received by the Commission 
within 180 days from the date of the alleged violation. 
 
(3) Charges arising in jurisdictions having a FEP agency with subject matter 
jurisdiction over the charges are to be processed in accordance with the 
Commission's deferral policy set forth below and the procedures in paragraph 
(a)(4) of this section. 
 
(i) In order to give full weight to the policy of section 706(c) of title VII, which 
affords State and local fair employment practice agencies that come within the 
provisions of that section an opportunity to remedy alleged discrimination 
concurrently regulated by title VII, the ADA, or GINA and State or local law, the 
Commission adopts the following procedures with respect to allegations of 
discrimination filed with the Commission. It is the intent of the Commission to 
thereby encourage the maximum degree of effectiveness in the State and local 
agencies. The Commission shall endeavor to maintain close communication with 
the State and local agencies with respect to all matters forwarded to such agencies 
and shall provide such assistance to State and local agencies as is permitted by law 
and as is practicable. 
 
(ii) Section 706(c) of title VII grants States and their political subdivisions the 
exclusive right to process allegations of discrimination filed by a person other than 
a Commissioner for a period of 60 days (or 120 days during the first year after the 
effective date of the qualifying State or local law). This right exists where, as set 
forth in § 1601.70, a State or local law prohibits the employment practice alleged 
to be unlawful and a State or local agency has been authorized to grant or seek 
relief. After the expiration of the exclusive processing period, the Commission may 
commence processing the allegation of discrimination. 
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(iii) A FEP agency may waive its right to the period of exclusive processing of 
charges provided under section 706(c) of title VII with respect to any charge or 
category of charges. Copies of all such charges will be forwarded to the 
appropriate FEP agency. 
 
(4) The following procedures shall be followed with respect to charges which arise 
in jurisdictions having a FEP agency with subject matter jurisdiction over the 
charges: 
 
(i) Where any document, whether or not verified, is received by the Commission as 
provided in § 1601.8 which may constitute a charge cognizable under title VII, the 
ADA, or GINA, and where the FEP agency has not waived its right to the period of 
exclusive processing with respect to that document, that document shall be 
deferred to the appropriate FEP agency as provided in the procedures set forth 
below: 
 
(A) All such documents shall be dated and time stamped upon receipt. 
 
(B) A copy of the original document, shall be transmitted by registered mail, return 
receipt requested, to the appropriate FEP agency, or, where the FEP agency has 
consented thereto, by certified mail, by regular mail or by hand delivery. State or 
local proceedings are deemed to have commenced on the date such document is 
mailed or hand delivered. 
 
(C) The person claiming to be aggrieved and any person filing a charge on behalf 
of such person shall be notified, in writing, that the document which he or she sent 
to the Commission has been forwarded to the FEP agency pursuant to the 
provisions of section 706(c) of title VII. 
 
(ii) Such charges are deemed to be filed with the Commission as follows: 
 
(A) Where the document on its face constitutes a charge within a category of 
charges over which the FEP agency has waived its rights to the period of exclusive 
processing referred to in paragraph (a)(3)(iii) of this section, the charge is deemed 
to be filed with the Commission upon receipt of the document. Such filing is 
timely if the charge is received within 300 days from the date of the alleged 
violation. 
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(B) Where the document on its face constitutes a charge which is not within a 
category of charges over which the FEP agency has waived its right to the period 
of exclusive processing referred to in paragraph (a)(3)(iii) of this section, the 
Commission shall process the document in accordance with paragraph (a)(4)(i) of 
this section. The charge shall be deemed to be filing with the Commission upon 
expiration of 60 (or where appropriate, 120) days after deferral, or upon the 
termination of FEP agency proceedings, or upon waiver of the FEP agency's right 
to exclusively process the charge, whichever is earliest. Where the FEP agency 
earlier terminates its proceedings or waives its right to exclusive processing of a 
charge, the charge shall be deemed to be filed with the Commission on the date the 
FEP agency terminated its proceedings or the FEP agency waived its right to 
exclusive processing of the charge. Such filing is timely if effected within 300 days 
from the date of the alleged violation. 
 

 
29 C.F.R. § 1601.70(a) 
 
(a) State and local fair employment practice agencies or authorities which qualify 
under section 706(c) of title VII and this section shall be designated as “FEP 
agencies.” The qualifications for designation under section 706(c) are as follows: 
 
(1) That the State or political subdivision has a fair employment practice law which 
makes unlawful employment practices based upon race, color, religion, sex, 
national origin or disability; and 
 
(2) That the State or political subdivision has either established a State or local 
authority or authorized an existing State or local authority that is empowered with 
respect to employment practices found to be unlawful, to do one of three things: To 
grant relief from the practice; to seek relief from the practice; or to institute 
criminal proceedings with respect to the practice. 
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29 C.F.R. § 1601.71 
 
(a) When the Commission determines that an agency or authority meets the criteria 
outlined in section 706(c) of title VII and § 1601.70, the Commission shall so 
notify the agency by letter and shall notify the public by publication in the Federal 
Register of an amendment to § 1601.74. 
 
(b) Where the Commission determines that an agency or authority does not come 
within the definition of a FEP agency for purposes of a particular basis of 
discrimination or where the agency or authority applies for designation as a Notice 
Agency, the Commission shall notify that agency or authority of the filing of 
charges for which the agency or authority is not a FEP agency. For such purposes 
that State or local agency will be deemed a Notice Agency. 
 
(c) Where the Chairman becomes aware of events which lead him or her to believe 
that a deferral Agency no longer meets the requirements of a FEP agency and 
should no longer be considered a FEP agency, the Chairman will so notify the 
affected agency and give it 15 days in which to respond to the preliminary 
findings. If the Chairman deems necessary, he or she may convene a hearing for 
the purpose of clarifying the matter. The Commission shall render a final 
determination regarding continuation of the agency as a FEP agency. 
 
 
 
29 C.F.R. § 1601.74 
 
(a) The designated FEP agencies are: 
 
Alaska Commission for Human Rights 
Alexandria (VA) Human Rights Office 
Allentown (PA) Human Relations Commission 
Anchorage (AK) Equal Rights Commission 
Anderson (IN) Human Relations Commission 
Arizona Civil Rights Division 
Arlington County (VA) Human Rights Commission2

                                                 
2 The Arlington Human Rights Commission has been designated as a FEP agency 
for all charges except charges alleging a violation of title VII by a government, 
government agency, or political subdivision of the State of Virginia. For these 
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Austin (TX) Human Relations Commission3

Baltimore (MD) Community Relations Commission 
 

Bloomington (IL) Human Relations Commission 
Bloomington (IN) Human Rights Commission 
Broward County (FL) Human Relations Commission 
California Department of Fair Employment and Housing 
Charleston (WV) Human Rights Commission 
City of Salina (KS) Human Relations Commission and Department 
City of Springfield (IL) Department of Community Relations 
Clearwater (FL) Office of Community Relations 
Colorado Civil Rights Commission 
Colorado State Personnel Board4

Commonwealth of Puerto Rico Department of Labor
 

5

Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunity 
 

Corpus Christi (TX) Human Relations Commission 
Dade County (FL) Fair Housing and Employment Commission 
Delaware Department of Labor 
District of Columbia Office of Human Rights 
                                                                                                                                                             
types of charges it shall be deemed a “Notice agency” pursuant to 29 CFR 
1601.71(b). 
3 The Austin (TX) Human Relations Commission has been designated as a FEP 
agency for all charges except charges alleging a violation of title VII by a 
government, government agency, or political subdivision of the State of Texas. 
For these types of charges it shall be deemed a “Notice Agency,” pursuant to 29 
CFR 1601.71(b). 
4 The Colorado State Personnel Board has been designated as a FEP agency for 
only those charges which relate to appointments, promotions, and other personnel 
actions that take place in the State personnel system. In addition, it has been 
designated as a FEP agency for all of the above mentioned charges except charges 
which allege a violation of section 704(a) of title VII. For this type of charge it 
shall be deemed a “Notice Agency” pursuant to 29 CFR 1601.71(b). 
5 The Commonwealth of Puerto Rico Department of Labor has been designated as 
a FEP agency for all charges except (1) charges alleging a “labor union” has 
violated title VII; (2) charges alleging an “Employment Agency” has violated title 
VII; (3) charges alleging violations of title VII by agencies or instrumentalities of 
the Government of Puerto Rico when they are not operating as private businesses 
or enterprises; and (4) all charges alleging violations of sec. 704(a) or title VII. For 
these types of charges it shall be deemed a “Notice Agency,” pursuant to 29 CFR 
1601.71(b). 
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Durham (NC) Human Relations Commission 
East Chicago (IN) Human Rights Commission 
Evansville (IN) Human Relations Commission 
Fairfax County (VA) Human Rights Commission 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
Fort Dodge–Webster County (IA) Human Rights Commission 
Fort Wayne (IN) Metropolitan Human Relations Commission 
Fort Worth (TX) Human Relations Commission 
Gary (IN) Human Relations Commission 
Georgia Office of Fair Employment Practices6

Hawaii Department of Labor and Industrial Relations
 

7

Hillsborough County (FL) Equal Opportunity and Human Relations Department 
 

Howard County (MD) Human Rights Commission8

Huntington (WV) Human Relations Commission 
 

Idaho Human Rights Commission 
Illinois Department of Human Rights 
Indiana Civil Rights Commission 
Iowa Civil Rights Commission 
Jacksonville (FL) Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 
Kansas City (KS) Human Relations Department 
Kansas City (MO) Human Relations Department 
Kansas Human Rights Commission 
Kentucky Commission on Human Rights 
Lee County (FL) Department of Equal Opportunity 
Lexington–Fayette (KY) Urban County Human Rights Commission 
Lincoln (NE) Commission on Human Rights9

                                                 
6 The Georgia Office of Fair Employment Practices has been designated as a FEP 
agency for all charges covering the employment practices of the departments of the 
State of Georgia only. 

 

7 The Hawaii Department of Labor and Industrial Relations has been granted FEP 
agency designation of all charges except those filed against units of the State and 
local government, in which case it shall be deemed a “Notice Agency.” 
8 The Howard County (MD) Human Rights Commission has been granted 
designation of all charges except those filed against agencies of Howard County in 
which case it shall be deemed a “Notice Agency.” 
9 The Lincoln (NE) Commission on Human Rights has been designated as a FEP 
agency for all charges except (1) a charge by an “applicant for membership” 
alleging a violation of section 703(c)(2) of title VII(2) a charge by an individual 
alleging that a “joint labor-management committee” has violated section 704(a) of 



A-9 
 

Louisiana (LA) Commission on Human Rights 
Louisville and Jefferson County (KY) Human Relations Commission 
Madison (WI) Equal Opportunities Commission 
Maine Human Rights Commission 
Maryland Commission on Human Relations 
Mason City (IA) Human Rights Commission 
Massachusetts Commission Against Discrimination 
Michigan City (IN) Human Rights Commission 
Michigan Department of Civil Rights 
Minneapolis (MN) Department of Civil Rights 
Minnesota Department of Human Rights 
Missouri Commission on Human Rights 
Montana Human Rights Division 
Montgomery County (MD) Human Relations Commission 
Nebraska Equal Opportunity Commission 
Nevada Commission on Equal Rights of Citizens 
New Hampshire Commission for Human Rights 
New Hanover (NC) Human Relations Commission10

New Haven (CT) Commission on Equal Opportunities 
 

New Jersey Division of Civil Rights, Department of Law and Public Safety 
New Mexico Human Rights Commission 
New York City (NY) Commission on Human Rights 
New York State Division on Human Rights 
North Carolina State Office of Administrative Hearings 
North Dakota Department of Labor 
                                                                                                                                                             
title VII; and (3) a charge by an individual alleging that a “joint labor-management 
committee” has violated section 704(b) of title VII. For those types of charges, it 
shall be deemed a “Notice Agency,” pursuant to 29 CFR 1601.71(b). 
10 The New Hanover Human Relations Commission is being designated as a FEP 
agency for charges covering employment practices under section 706(c) of title VII 
and CFR 1601.70 et seq. (1980) within New Hanover County and “such cities 
within the county as may by resolution of their governing boards, permit the 
Ordinance of the Board of Commissioners of New Hanover County entitled 
‘Prohibition of Discrimination in Employment’ to be applicable within such 
cities.” This covers Wilmington City and the unincorporated area of New Hanover 
County. At this time Wrightsville Beach, Carolina Beach and Kure Beach are not 
included in this designation. For charges from these latter locales the New Hanover 
Human Relations Commission shall be deemed a “Notice Agency,” pursuant to 29 
CFR 1601.71(b). 
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Ohio Civil Rights Commission 
Oklahoma Human Rights Commission 
Omaha (NE) Human Relations Department 
Orange County (NC) Human Relations Commission 
Oregon Bureau of Labor 
Orlando (FL) Human Relations Department 
Paducah (KY) Human Rights Commission 
Palm Beach County (FL) Office of Equal Opportunity 
Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission 
Philadelphia (PA) Commission on Human Relations 
Pinellas County (FL) Affirmative Action Office 
Pittsburgh (PA) Commission on Human Rights 
Prince George's County (MD) Human Relations Commission 
Prince William County (VA) Human Rights Commission 
Reading (PA) Human Relations Commission 
Rhode Island Commission for Human Rights 
Richmond County (GA) Human Rights Commission 
Rockville (MD) Human Rights Commission 
St. Louis (MO) Civil Rights Enforcement Agency 
St. Paul (MN) Department of Human Rights 
St. Petersburg (FL) Human Relations Division11

Seattle (WA) Human Rights Commission 
 

Sioux Falls (SD) Human Relations Commission 
South Bend (IN) Human Rights Commission 
South Carolina Human Affairs Commission 
South Dakota Division of Human Rights 
Springfield (OH) Human Relations Department 
Tacoma (WA) Human Relations Commission 
Tampa (FL) Office of Community Relations 
Tennessee Commission for Human Development 
Texas Commission on Human Rights 
Topeka (KS) Human Relations Commission 
                                                 
11 On June 1, 1979, the St. Petersburg Office of Human Relations was designated a 
FEP agency for all charges except those charges alleging retaliation under section 
704(a) of title VII. Accordingly, “for retaliation charges” it was deemed a “Notice 
Agency,” pursuant to 29 CFR 1601.71(c). See 44 FR 31638. On May 23, 1979, an 
ordinance amended the St. Petersburg, FL Human Relations law to include charges 
of retaliation. Therefore, retaliation charges will be deferred to that agency 
effective immediately. 
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Utah Industrial Commission, Anti–Discrimination Division 
Vermont Attorney General's Office, Civil Rights Division 
Vermont Human Rights Commission 
Virgin Islands Department of Labor 
Virginia Council on Human Rights 
Washington Human Rights Commission 
West Virginia Human Rights Commission 
Wheeling (WV) Human Rights Commission 
Wichita Falls (TX) Human Relations Commission 
Wisconsin Equal Rights Division, Department of Industry, Labor and Human 
Relations 
Wisconsin State Personnel Commission12

Wyoming Fair Employment Practices Commission 
 

York (PA) Human Relations Commission 
Youngstown (OH) Human Relations Commission 
 
(b) The designated Notice Agencies are: 
 
Arkansas Governor's Committee on Human Resources 
Ohio Director of Industrial Relations 
Raleigh (NC) Human Resources Department, Civil Rights Unit 

                                                 
12 The Wisconsin State Personnel Commission is being designated as a FEP agency 
for all charges covering the employment practices of the agencies of the State of 
Wisconsin except those charges alleging retaliation under 704(a) of title VII. 
Accordingly, for retaliation charges, it shall be deemed a Notice Agency pursuant 
to 29 CFR 1601.71(b). 
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